
1 

GOLDSBORO CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
MONDAY, DECEMBER 21, 2020 

(Please turn off, or silence, all cellphones upon entering the Large Conference Room) 

NC Gov. Cooper’s Executive Order 176 restricts mass gatherings due to COVID-19; therefore, public attendance 
of the Work Session and Council Meeting is restricted to those who are on the agenda or who would like to 
speak during the Public Hearing.  If you are speaking at the meeting, please enter the City Hall Addition front 
entrance and maintain social distance while waiting to enter the Large Conference Room one at a time.  The 
meeting will be streamed live on the City's Facebook and YouTube pages at 
https://www.goldsboronc.gov/mayor-of-goldsboro/city-council-minutes/ and broadcast on the Downtown 
Center Street speakers.  

I. WORK SESSION–5:00 P.M. – CITY HALL ADDITION, 200 N. CENTER ST., ROOM 206 

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

OLD BUSINESS 
a. FY 18-19 Audit Update (City Manager)
b. Council Vacancy Discussion (Mayor)

NEW BUSINESS 
c. Mayor Pro Tem Discussion (Mayor)
d. Council Committees Discussion (Mayor)
e. Staff Reorganization Discussion (City Manager)

II. CALL TO ORDER – 7:00 P.M. – CITY HALL ADDITION, 200 N. CENTER ST., ROOM 206
Invocation (Bishop Alton A. Smith, St. Mark Church of Christ, Disciples of Christ)
Pledge of Allegiance

III. ROLL CALL

IV. PRESENTATIONS
A. Resolution Expressing Appreciation for Services Rendered by Columbus Taylor Jr. as an Employee of

the City of Goldsboro for More Than 37 Years 
B. Resolution Expressing Appreciation for Services Rendered by Stasia Fields as an Employee of the City of

Goldsboro for More Than 33 Years 
C. Resolution Expressing Appreciation for Services Rendered by Jon Gillis as an Employee of the City of

Goldsboro for More Than 32 Years 
D. Supervisor and Employee of the Year Recognition

V. PUBLIC HEARINGS (*Motion/Second) 
**When a public body conducts a public hearing at a remote meeting that falls under G.S. 166A-19.24, it is required that 
they allow for written comments on the subject of the public hearing to be submitted up to 24 hours after the public 
hearing before taking action thereon.  
E. Z-11-20 – Three J’s Inc. - South side of Eleventh Street between Wendell Street and Norwood Avenue 

(Planning) 
F. CU-7-20 Personal Storage, LLC. (Outside Storage w/Used Automobile Sales) (Planning)  
G. CU-8-20 Salem Leasing Corp.-Southwest corner of US Highway 117 South and Vann Street (Amendment 

of existing Conditional Use Permit) (Planning) 
PLANNING COMMISSION EXCUSED  

https://www.goldsboronc.gov/mayor-of-goldsboro/city-council-minutes/


2 

VI. CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS (*Motion/Second--Roll Call) 
H. Contract Award for Design Services for the Concourse Roof Addition at the GWTA Transfer Center 

(Downtown) 
I. Approval of Amended Lease for Multi Sports Complex (Parks and Recreation) 
J. Advisory Board and Commission Appointments (City Clerk)  
K. Departmental Monthly Reports  

 
VII. ITEMS REQUIRING INDIVIDUAL ACTION (*Motion/Second) 

L. Z-10-20 – Wayne Oil Company, Inc. - Northwest corner of Wayne Memorial Drive and Fourth Street 
(Neighborhood Business to General Business Conditional District) (Planning)  

M. S-8-20 – Wayne Oil Company, Inc.  (Preliminary Subdivision Plat- 2 Lot Final) - Northwest corner of 
Wayne Memorial Drive and Fourth Street (Planning) 

 
VIII. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

 

IX. MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS’ REPORTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
N. Resolution Expressing Appreciation for Services Rendered By Dwayne Dean as an Employee of the City 

of Goldsboro for More Than 29 Years 
 

X. CLOSED SESSION 
 

XI. ADJOURN 
 



Item A



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-82 

RESOLUTION EXPRESSING APPRECIATION 
FOR SERVICES RENDERED BY COLUMBUS TAYLOR JR. 

AS AN EMPLOYEE OF THE CITY OF GOLDSBORO 
FOR MORE THAN 37 YEARS 

WHEREAS, Columbus Taylor retires on January 1, 2021 as a Collections Supervisor in the 
Maintenance Division with the Public Works Department of the City of Goldsboro with more than 37 years of 
service; and 

WHEREAS, Columbus began his career on October 17, 1983 as an Equipment Operator II with the 
Sanitation Division at the Public Works Department; and 

WHEREAS, On July 4, 1988, Columbus was promoted to Equipment Operator III with the 
Maintenance Division at the Public Works Department; and   

WHEREAS, On July 1, 2016, Columbus was promoted to Collections Supervisor with the Maintenance 
Division at the Public Works Department where he has served until his retirement; and 

WHEREAS, Columbus has proven himself to be a dedicated and efficient public servant who has 
gained the admiration and respect of his fellow workers and the citizens of the City of Goldsboro; and 

WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council of the City of Goldsboro are desirous, on behalf of 
themselves, City employees and the citizens of the City of Goldsboro, of expressing to Columbus Taylor their 
deep appreciation and gratitude for the service rendered by him to the City over the years. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Goldsboro, 
North Carolina that: 

1. We express to Columbus our very best wishes for success, happiness, prosperity and good health in
his future endeavors.

2. This Resolution shall be incorporated into the official Minutes of the City of Goldsboro, and shall be
in full force and effect from and after this 21st day of December, 2020.

______________________ 
Mayor 

Attested by: 

______________________ 
City Clerk  





 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-83 
 

RESOLUTION EXPRESSING APPRECIATION 
FOR SERVICES RENDERED BY STASIA FIELDS   

AS AN EMPLOYEE OF THE CITY OF GOLDSBORO 
FOR MORE THAN 33 YEARS 

 
 WHEREAS, Stasia Fields retires on January 1, 2021 as a Recreation Superintendent with the Parks and 
Recreation Department of the City of Goldsboro with more than 33 years of service; and 
 

WHEREAS, Stasia began her career on August 5, 1987 as a Special Populations Leader with the Parks and 
Recreation Department; and 

 
WHEREAS, On July 17, 1996, Stasia was promoted to Recreation Supervisor with the Parks and Recreation 

Department; and  
 
WHEREAS, On January 1, 2016, Stasia was promoted to Special Populations Supervisor with the Parks and 

Recreation Department; and  
 
WHEREAS, On July 1, 2016, Stasia’s position was changed to Recreation Superintendent where she has served 

until her retirement; and 
 
WHEREAS, Stasia has proven herself to be a dedicated and efficient public servant who has gained the 

admiration and respect of her fellow workers and the citizens of the City of Goldsboro; and 
 

 WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council of the City of Goldsboro are desirous, on behalf of themselves, City 
employees and the citizens of the City of Goldsboro, of expressing to Stasia Fields their deep appreciation and gratitude 
for the service rendered by her to the City over the years. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North 
Carolina that: 
 

1. We express to Stasia our very best wishes for success, happiness, prosperity and good health in her future 
endeavors. 

 
2. This Resolution shall be incorporated into the official Minutes of the City of Goldsboro, and shall be in full 

force and effect from and after this 21st day of December, 2020. 
 
 
 

 
       ____________________________ 
       Mayor  
 
 
Attested by:   
 
 
 
_________________________ 
City Clerk  





 
RESOLUTION NO. 2020-84 

 
RESOLUTION EXPRESSING APPRECIATION 
FOR SERVICES RENDERED BY JON GILLIS     

AS AN EMPLOYEE OF THE CITY OF GOLDSBORO 
FOR MORE THAN 32 YEARS 

 
WHEREAS, Jon Gillis retires on January 1, 2021 as a Fire Captain with the Goldsboro Fire Department 

of the City of Goldsboro with more than 32 years of service; and 
 

WHEREAS, Jon began his career on April 6, 1988 as a Police Officer with the Goldsboro Police 
Department; and 

 
WHEREAS, On May 31, 1989, Jon was transferred to Firefighter with the Goldsboro Fire Department; 

and  
 
WHEREAS, On April 27, 1994, Jon was promoted to Driver with the Goldsboro Fire Department; and  
 
WHEREAS, On February 12, 1997, Jon was promoted to Lieutenant with the Goldsboro Fire Department; 

and  
 
WHEREAS, On July 1, 2016, Jon’s position was reclassified as Captain with the Goldsboro Fire 

Department where he has served until his retirement; and 
 
WHEREAS, Jon has proven himself to be a dedicated and efficient public servant who has gained the 

admiration and respect of his fellow workers and the citizens of the City of Goldsboro; and 
 

       WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council of the City of Goldsboro are desirous, on behalf of themselves, 
City employees and the citizens of the City of Goldsboro, of expressing to Jon Gillis their deep appreciation and 
gratitude for the service rendered by him to the City over the years. 
 
       NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Goldsboro, 
North Carolina that: 
 

1. We express to Jon our very best wishes for success, happiness, prosperity and good health in his future 
endeavors. 
 

2. This Resolution shall be incorporated into the official Minutes of the City of Goldsboro, and shall be 
in full force and effect from and after this 21st day of December, 2020. 

  
 
 

______________________ 
Mayor 

 
Attested by:  
 
 
_____________________ 
City Clerk  



E















F











G











H





I



First Amendment to Lease 
Seymour-Johnson AFB, NC 

Page 1 of 4 

 
    Lease No. USAF-ACC-VKAG-17-2-0373 

  Seymour-Johnson Air Force Base, NC 
  

 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 
SEYMOUR-JOHNSON AFB SPORTS FIELDS 

 

This FIRST AMENDMENT TO GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT (“Amendment”) 
is made as of the ______ day of _____________________  20___, by and between the UNITED 
STATES OF AMERICA, acting by and through the SECRETARY OF THE AIR FORCE (the 
“Government” or “Lessor’’) and CITY OF GOLDSBORO, NORTH CAROLINA, a Municipal 
Corporation whose mailing address is P.O. Drawer A, Goldsboro, NC 27533 (the “Lessee” or 
“City”).  The Lessor and Lessee are sometimes collectively referred to herein as, the “Parties” and 
individually as, the “Party”.  

 
WITNESSETH 

 
WHEREAS, the City, as Lessee, and the Government, as Lessor, heretofore entered into 

that certain ground lease agreement dated May 3, 2017, identified as Lease No. USAF-ACC-
VKAG-17-2-0373 (the “Lease”) for the lease of approximately sixty two (62) acres of property 
on the perimeter of Seymour-Johnson Air Force Base in Wayne County, North Carolina 
described in Exhibit A to the Lease (the “Leased Premises”) for a term of nineteen (19) years 
(the “Initial Term”), with an option to renew for an additional ten (10) years;   

 
WHEREAS, under the terms of the Lease, the City constructed and operates eight (8) 

multi-sports full size, illuminated fields (i.e., soccer, football, lacrosse, field hockey and ultimate 
frisbee); and ancillary facilities including a perimeter fence, parking, restrooms, concessions and 
utility infrastructure, known as the Bryan Multi-Sports Complex, for use by the general public 
and the Air Force, all as more particularly described in the Lease;  
 

WHEREAS, the City desires to make Additional Improvements at the Leased Premises, 
as defined and set forth in Section 1, below; 

 
WHEREAS, the City may require financing for the construction of the Additional 

Improvements and is seeking a longer lease term in order to be able to satisfy possible 
requirements of any potential lender to secure such financing;  

 
WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Lease to permit the City to construct 

Additional Improvements and therefore invest additional resources into the Leased Premises and 
to extend the term of the Lease, as more specifically set forth herein. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements 

made herein and for other good and valuable consideration the receipt and adequacy of which is 
hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

 
1.  Section 1.03  Permitted Use.  The term Permitted Use as defined in Section 1.03 of the Lease 
is hereby amended to add the following: “splash pad, picnic shelter, playground, walking trail, 
additional lighting, additional paved parking, a maintenance shelter and a small satellite bathroom 
facility near fields 3 and 4; the foregoing shall be referred to herein as the “Additional 
Improvements.” 



First Amendment to Lease 
Seymour-Johnson AFB, NC 

Page 2 of 4 

 
    Lease No. USAF-ACC-VKAG-17-2-0373 

  Seymour-Johnson Air Force Base, NC 
  

 

 
The City agrees that it will complete the construction of the splash pad and picnic shelter by 
December 31, 2021 (the “Phase 1 Additional Improvements Completion Date”), subject to 
delays beyond the reasonable control of the City. The City agrees to use its best efforts to secure 
necessary funding and to complete the remainder of the Additional Improvements by December 
31, 2030 (the “Phase 2 Additional Improvements Completion Date”), subject to delays beyond 
the reasonable control of the City, including, without limitation, failure to secure necessary 
funding, but shall thereafter continue to use its best efforts to secure such funding and complete 
such construction of the remainder of the Additional Improvements as soon as reasonably possible 
after the Phase 2 Additional Improvements Completion Date. 
 
2.  Section 2.01  Term.  Section 2.01 is hereby deleted and replaced with the following: 
 

a. Term. The term of this Lease shall be for a period forty-nine (49) years commencing on 
May 3, 2017 (the “Lease Commencement Date”) and shall expire at midnight Eastern 
Standard Time on May 2, 2066 (the “Lease Expiration Date”), unless sooner terminated 
in accordance with the terms and provisions hereof. The period of time from the Lease 
Commencement Date to and including the Lease Expiration Date is hereinafter referred to 
as the “Term.” 
 

b. As required by 10 USC 2667(a)(2), the Government hereby acknowledges and agrees that 
for the Term of this Lease, the Leased Premises is not needed for public use; and, in 
accordance with 10 USC 2667(b)(3), the undersigned hereby acknowledges and agrees that 
the omission of such a provision permitting the Government to revoke this Lease at any 
time will promote the national defense or be in the public interest.  

 
3.  Section 3.01  In-Kind Rent.  In the second sentence of Section 3.01, the words “Initial Term” 
are hereby replaced with the word “Term.”   
The City acknowledges and agrees that it will continue to provide the Government, throughout the 
Term, rent consideration in exchange for the leasehold interest in the Leased Premises, by 
providing priority and exclusive use of portions of the Sports Field Complex on the Leased 
Premises each month during the Term of this Lease to the Government, as and when needed, for 
Government recreation league practice and play, Government intramural field sports practice and 
play, Government group fitness, and Installation “wing sports days” events, as set forth and more 
particularly described in Section 3.01(b) of the Lease. 
 
4.  Miscellaneous. 
 

a. Effect on Lease.  Except as expressly amended by this Amendment, all other terms 
and provisions of the Lease shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect. 

 
b. Inconsistent Provisions.  In the event of any inconsistencies between the provisions 

of this Amendment and the Lease, the provisions of this Amendment shall supersede 
and control.  If any provision of this Amendment is found unenforceable, such 
provision shall not affect the enforceability of the remaining provisions of the Lease. 

 



First Amendment to Lease 
Seymour-Johnson AFB, NC 

Page 3 of 4 

 
    Lease No. USAF-ACC-VKAG-17-2-0373 

  Seymour-Johnson Air Force Base, NC 
  

 

c. Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Electronic copies of this First Amendment, bearing the 
parties’ respective signatures, shall be enforceable as originals. 

 
d. Time is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to this Amendment.  The 

Lease, as amended by this Amendment, represents the entire agreement of the parties. 
 

e. Effective Date.  The “Effective Date” of this Amendment shall be the date upon 
which the last of the Parties executes this Amendment. 

 
f. Authorization. The undersigned hereby warrants and represents s/he is duly 

authorized to make and enter into this Amendment on behalf of the City and to bind 
the City hereto. 

 
g. Headings.  The section headings of this Amendment are for convenience only and 

shall in no way define or limit the scope or content of this Amendment, and shall not 
be considered in any interpretation or construction of all or any part of this 
Amendment.  Where required, any reference to a term in the singular shall be deemed 
to include the plural of said term, and any reference to a term in the plural shall be 
deemed to include the singular of said term. 
 

 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

 
 [SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW] 



First Amendment to Lease  
Seymour-Johnson AFB, NC 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Government and the City have caused this Amendment to 
be executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the date written below. 
 

 
“GOVERNMENT” 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
acting by and through the Secretary of the Air Force 

 
 
 
By:    

ROBERT E. MORIARTY, P.E., SES 
Deputy Assistant Secretary of the Air Force 
(Installations) 

 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Date 

 
 
  



First Amendment to Lease  
Seymour-Johnson AFB, NC 

Page 4 of 4 

“CITY” 

THE CITY OF GOLDSBORO, NORTH 
CAROLINA, a municipal corporation 

By: ____________________________________ 
CHUCK ALLEN, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

____________________________________ 
Melissa Capps, City Clerk 

____________________________________ 
Date 

This AMENDMENT has been pre-audited in the manner required by the Local Government 
Budgeting and Fiscal Control Act.   

BY: 
        Catherine F. Gwynn, Finance Director, City of Goldsboro 



J











City of Goldsboro  
Departmental Monthly Reports 

November 2020 

1. Human Resources
2. Community Relations
3. Paramount Theater-GEC
4. Inspections
5. Downtown Development
6. Information Technology
7. Public Works
8. Public Utilities
9. Finance

10. Planning
11. Engineering
12. Fire
13. Police
14. Parks and Recreation
15. Travel and Tourism

Item K



1 

HUMAN RESOURCES  
November 2020  
Prepared By: Pamela C. Leake  
Date Prepared: December 9, 2020 

Human Resources 
• Human Resources staff reviewed job descriptions submitted by department heads and finalizing for import

in NeoGov. 
• Staff served on interview panels at Public Works and assessment center for Police Department.
• Staff completed position classification reviews and four internal salary studies to assess market equity.
• November 6 - Staff assisted with Fire Engineer written exams.
• Staff provided assistance with the on-line training classes (troubleshooting and user access). They also

conducted on-site visits.
• Total training completed in Learn Module – 173 Hazard Communication and 374 Blood-Borne

Pathogens.
• Eighty-seven percent (87%) of annual evaluations for 2019/20 reporting period are complete. Three

hundred forty-two (342) evaluations have been logged and printed as of November 30. Staff also continues
to troubleshoot and assist with user issues.

• Staff is working on the Employee Service Awards. Forty-eight (48) recipients will be recognized for their
years of service with the City.

Safety 
• November 3 – JJ Keller video demonstration for training and pricing.
• November 4 – Assisted Planning Department with exterminator applications.
• Fire extinguisher inspections in City Hall and hearing booth calibration and inspection.
• Facility inspections at Public Works, Paramount, and City-wide inspections with private

contractors.
• November 10 – Conference call with Department of Labor
• November 17 – Planning for James Street shut down on Old Goldsboro National Bank

construction.
• Teleconferences with Sayer McShane Band and Doug McGrath for NC Freedom Fest.
• Finished update of City Safety Manual.
• Provided employee assistance in various locations for online safety training.
• November 30 – James Street shut down for crane being located in street. ( 2 weeks)
• November 30 – Stand by for an electric pole blocking George Street from wind damage.

Occupational Health  
There were 121 clinic visits this month. There were no random drug screens this month. 



2 

MONTHLY STATISTICS 

2020 JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC AVG 

Total 
Employment 

573 573 575 574 573 571 568 565 561 561 560 569 

Vacancies 21 23 28 16 12 13 12 13 19 12 9 17 
Applications 480 367 208 158 73 124 227 225 262 177 44 213 

Applicant 
Notices 

277 295 110 259 117 384 106 94 122 111 135 183 

New Hires     9 6 5 3 1 3 3 4 2 5 3 4 
Resignations 1 3 2 4 1 5 3 6 4 4 1 3 
Retirements 4 2 1 0 1 0 3 1 1 1 1 1 
Terminations 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 .36 
Turnover 
Rate 

.87% .87% .52% .70% .35% .88% 1.06% 1.24% .89% .89% .36% 0.78% 

Vehicle 
Accidents 

    4 0 2 5 5 2 0 0 2 0 0 2 

Workers’ 
Compensatio
n 

    0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0.27 

FFCRA Leave 0 10 6 20 20 11 17 13 6 11 

Telework 37 39 35 32 32 32 33 24 19 31 

2019 JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JULY AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC AVG 

Applications 348 320 346 542 283 203 401 247 61 274 620 276 323 
New Hires 11 7 1 3 3 1 8 6 6 2 0 0 4 
Separations 3 3 6 3 1 5 4 3 5 3 2 11 4 
Vehicle 
Accidents 

7 4 6 3 6 4 5 5 0 4  2 2 4 

Workers’ 
Compensation 

2 4 3 0 2 2 0 0 0 0  0 0 1 

Note: Hiring and separation statistics (resignations, retirements, and terminations) represent full-time and 
permanent part-time personnel.  



1 

COMMUNITY RELATIONS DEPARTMENT 
November 2020 
Prepared By:  Shycole Simpson-Carter, Community Relations Director 
Date Prepared:  November 9, 2020 

• On November 19, 2020 the Mayor’s Committee for Persons with Disabilities (MCPD) met virtually to discuss official
business towards persons with disabilities.  The Committee is scheduled to meet on January 21, 2021 at 12:00 pm.

• The Commission on Community Relations and Development met on November 19, 2020 at 6:00 pm.  During the
meeting, the Commission continued to discuss the City Council plans to establish a separate Race Relations
Committee and explored resources the Commission can use to aid in any future plans.  The Commission discussed
other official business such as the virtual upcoming Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Celebration, Interfaith Breakfast, and
other diversity awareness activities for 2021.  The next scheduled meeting for the Commission on Community
Relations and Development will be held on January 12, 2021.

• The Goldsboro Youth Council (GYC) met virtually on November 4, 2020 at 5:00 pm for a regular session and an
executive board meeting.  The next scheduled regular GYC meeting will be on January 6, 2021.  Also, during the
month of November the GYC members participated in a virtual Mini-Grant Conference facility by the State of North
Carolina Youth Council Association.

• The Department has continued to work with the nonprofits awarded through the Goldsboro’s Coronavirus Relief
Fund (CRF) Program by ensuring Goldsboro maintain grant and finance compliance.  A total of nine contractual
agreements have been executed by Goldsboro with 47% of all awarded funds expended.  The remaining 53% is
scheduled to be expended by December 31, 2020.

• The Community Relations Department received from North Carolina Department of Commerce $350,000 from the
Rural Economic Development Division Rural Grant Program to form a public-private partnership with the Developers
of Adair Place to construct the infrastructure and increase affordable housing stock.  The Adair Place project was
completed in the month of November and received all four Certificates of Occupancy.  The newly constructed three-
story apartment buildings contain 72 units including a community building.  Thirty-six of the 72 total units are three-
bedroom units with the other 36 units being 12 one-bedroom units and 24 two-bedroom units.  The location of the
project is 200, 202, 204, and 206 Keller Way, Goldsboro NC.

• The Department received eight (8) housing complaints and ten (10) requests for assistance.  Description of said
complaints were eight (8) substandard housing issues (electrical, plumbing, HVAC, and improper evictions) along
with ten (10) request for assistance with housing, utilities, repairs, or food assistance many of these requests were
related to COVID-19. Complaints were submitted through the Cityworks system or rerouted for resolution to the
appropriate City Department, designated community agency, or State resource. 

Housing 2 2 1 3 4 2 5 3 4 7 8 4

Consumer & Other 2 2 10 7 0 6 9 5 4 3 10 5

Housing 1 4 5 2 2 4 2 2 2 1 1 0 2

Consumer & Other 3 4 3 4 3 4 6 1 4 0 4 2 3

Oct Nov Dec AVGMay Jun Jul Aug Sep2020 Complaints Jan Feb Mar Apr

2019 Complaints Jan Feb Mar Apr Oct Nov Dec AVGMay Jun Jul Aug Sep



1 

PARAMOUNT & GEC 
November 2020 
Prepared by:  Adam Twiss 
Date Prepared: 12/14/2020 

--------------PARAMOUNT THEATRE-------------- 
• November activity restricted by Executive Order; limit of 25 to enclosed area, 10pm curfew
• November COVID-19 postponements/cancellations include: 23 rental days, 10 public perfs.
• Created 4 Paramount concerts, executed 3 rescheduled private events
• Repairs and Maintenance:

o Safety, alarm, and ADA inspections put us in excellent standing with minor follow-up
o Roofing; temporary repairs holding, permanent repairs in discussion with contractor

--------------FINANCIAL-------------- 
o Expenses –$31,146: Labor -   $23,070 /Operational – $8,076   
o Revenues - $1,508: Tickets -$0 /Rentals- $1,508 /Concession- $0 (online sales appear in Dec.)

--------------GOLDSBORO EVENT CENTER-------------- 
• November activity restricted by Executive Order; capacity limited to 100 with 10pm curfew
• November COVID-19 related cancellations/postponements include 7 rental days
• Executed 7 private events, both rescheduled and new
• Repairs and Maintenance:

o Minor, but critical roof leaks approved for repair; façade repairs to follow.
o Minor, but critical electrical panel needs identified, will be followed up on.
o Bookings strong in late-fall and spring; offering more space for events to distance.

--------------FINANCIAL-------------- 
o Expenses – $6,727: Labor -  $5,004 /Operational – $1,723 
o Revenues – $6,122: Rentals - $5,329 /Amenities - $743 / Concessions – $50 
o Value City Use – $1,925: Value of non-revenue City use: = $1,925 

July-20 Aug-20 Sept-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 April-21 May-21 June-21 2021 Total 2021 Average 

Exp $12,499 $13,295 $16,383 $7,931 $6,727 $56,835 $11,367 

Rev $0 <$3,694> $541 $6,894 $6,122 $9,863 $1,973 

City $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,925 $1,925 $385 
July-19 Aug-19 Sept-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 April-20 May-20 June-20 2020 Total 2020 Average 

Exp $6,887 $10,356 $9,001 $13,055 $6,916 $13,636 $7,740 $21,673 $19,737 $9,130 $8,164 $7,677 $134,542 $11,212 

Rev $2,000 $8,369 $12,579 $7,439 $7,799 $11,371 $9,590 $7,825 $1,383 -$548 $1,916 $2,038 $73,799 $6,150 

City $2,075 $2,700 $4,700 $10,076 $6,483 $9,436 $6,800 $4,964 $375 $0 $0 $375 $47,984 $3,999 

 July-20 Aug-20 Sept-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 April-21 May-21 June-21 2021 Total 2021 Average 

Exp $31,420 $29,780 $11,774 $23,883 $31,146        $128,003 $25,600 

Rev $1,218 <$633> $1,625 $635 $1,508        $4,373 $875 

 July-19 Aug-19 Sept-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 April-20 May-20 June-20 2020 Total 2020 Average 

Exp $21,916 $41,241 $43,600 $50,200 $32,374 $66,748 $61,859 $56,489 $65,545 $23,792 $113,559 $23,856 $598,037 $49,836 

Rev $8,423 $8,090 $7,824 $12,301 $16,740 $28,934 $83,453 $88,232 $27,544 $15,415 $43,468 $1,781 $289,574 $24,131 



 

 
 

1 

INSPECTIONS 
Nov 2020 
Prepared By: Allen Anderson, Jr. 
Date Prepared 12/03/20 
 
The valuation of all permits issued for November totaled $4,569,919. While Covid-19 is still a major concern for 
our local economy, development has taken an upward trend compared to the past several years. 
 
All permit fees collected for the month totaled $29,699.  Of the permit fees collected for the month, $2,895 was 
collected in technology fees.  Plan review fees collected during the month totaled $765. Business Registration fees 
collected totaled $900. 
 
The Inspectors did a total of 484 inspections for the month.  During the month of November, six (6) business 
inspections were completed.  A total of 230 permits were issued for the month.   Twenty-four (24) plan reviews 
were completed for November.  Minimum Housing program moved to Planning Department. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

2020 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Avg
All Permit Valu. $ (M) $14 $5.3 $2.7 $5.1 $3.2 $8.9 $4.7 $10.9 $28.8 $7.3 $4.6 $8.7
All Bldgs $ (M) $11 $2.3 $1.4 $3.8 $1.9 $7.0 $3.1 $9.1 $27.1 $1.7 $2.9 $6.5
Residential $ (K) $2.6M $843 $435 $2.4M $858 $834 $575 $1.6M $375 $1.3 $1.1 $1.2
Misc $ (M) $3 $3 $1.3 $1.3 $1.3 $1.9 $1.6 $1.8 $1.7 $5.6 $1.7 $2.2
Permit Fee $ (K) $45 $48 $29 $38 $33 $53 $32 $47 $45 $37 $30 $40
Inspections 597 351 612 430 474 502 619 532 709 625 484 540
Permits Issued 271 249 257 229 251 273 268 277 294 238 230 258
Plan Reviews 17 43 41 45 50 46 36 48 63 31 24 40
Min Housing 134 136 157 157 157 157
In Process

2019 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Avg
Permit Valu.
All Bldgs $ (M) $2 $14 $6 $428K $8 $2 $4 $11 $2 $3 $10 $4 $6
Residential $ (K) $805 $1M $599 $0 2M $767 $580 $557 $985 $514 $999 $1M $817
Misc $ (M) $5 $2 $2 $2 $2 $1 $3 $2 $1 $2 $1 $2 $2
Permit Fee $ (K) $34 $40 $48 $27 $46 $41 $38 $40 $26 $23 $46 $40 $37
Inspections 614 603 531 497 603 488 533 663 516 447 500 453 537
Permits Issued 296 296 270 271 334 296 329 255 226 248 236 241 275
Plan Reviews 39 47 65 46 34 43 90 35 51 70 45 34 50
Min Housing 171 99 102 118 121 125 126 111 121 129 128 129 123
      In Process





1 

Information Technology  
November 2020  
Prepared By: Scott Williams 
Date Prepared: December 06, 2020 

• Rebuilt GIS Servers with upgraded operating systems and software.
• Installed two cameras and one access point at Fire Station 1.
• Replaced Garage laptop and setup new software.
• Granicus training for agenda creators.
• Installed cameras at Water Treatment Plant.
• Installed Wireless Access Points at Water Treatment Plant.
• Connected Camera at Paramount for streaming events
• Completed Banner Certificate upgrade.
• Installed Server for Solarwinds Event Manager.
• Completed repairs to Harris St Fiber conduit.
• Reallocated space in storage environment to improve performance.
• Completed Evaluations for IT Dept.
• Replaced Access Points for Downtown Wi-Fi.
• Drone Images - lacrosse tournament at MSC; Public Utilities – Big Cherry Pump Station to check

for any issue with the berm after rain.
• Setup for the virtual CALEA meeting.
• Staff attended a Virtual Cyber Security Conference (2 days).
• Installed Test Server for Track-It! Help Desk System upgrade.
• Prep, Filming and drone flight for Virtual Lights Up!
• Setup new timer and TV for the timer for Public Comment at Council Meetings.

2020 JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC AVG TOTAL 

Tickets 
Opened 

551 656 595 618 448 578 641 533 495 532 457 555 6,104 

Tickets 
Closed 

524 684 560 680 425 632 705 502 447 529 427 556 6,115 

Open 
Tickets 

511 483 518 456 479 425 361 392 440 443 473 453 

2019 JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC AVG TOTAL 

Tickets 
Opened 

662 536 546 519 540 424 686 708 545 734 475 441 568 6,618 

Tickets 
Closed 

551 467 575 429 496 454 942 664 503 672 498 416 556 6,667 

Open 
Tickets 

456 490 457 549 582 612 300 342 384 446 423 448 457 



Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
22.3 12.2 35.4 17.3 3.4 18.9 18.5 25.8 9.1 37.8 11.8 19.3
5.8 5.2 7.6 5.1 12.6 7.6 11.8 10.8 11.0 12.5 4.7 8.6
27 22 27 19 9 16 30 24 20 26 15 21.4
12 10 29 19 12 9 17 5 16 19 5 13.9
9 9 2 3 2 9 3 8 9 6 4 5.8
34 36 33 22 30 42 33 17 21 13 17 27.1

42 23 54 50 49 58 69 63 62 47 37 50.4
78 56 54 23 24 24 51 48 53 56 31 45.3
0 0 44 73 101.6 98 149 135 115 52 32.5 72.7
0 0 50 92 89 88 110 64 70 89 12 60.4

228 357 209 296 245 277 292 288 285 247 280 273.1
46$    67$    52$    60$    52$    56$    70$    53$    64$    52$    52$    56.7

0.9 0.8 0.9 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.996
103 79 93 88 88 88 117 18 62 107 66 82.6
0.4 0.7 0.1 0.9 0.9 0.7 0.8 0.7 0.6 0.8 0.7 0.676

5 3 9 4 2 6 5 5 6 6 9 5.5

0 0 18 29 10 24 26 26 34 15 10 17.5
49 83 30 28 35 50 64 30 17 39 41 42.4
48 112.3 66.2 128 123.1 142.7 145.7 138.3 68.2 93 123.1 108.1
0.08 0.50 0.05 1.73 2.07 6.96 0.70 4.71 0.15 0.08 0.01 1.549
0.00 0.00 0.00 2.51 1.17 12.27 6.12 11.30 1.52 2.28 9.30 4.224
1 7 5 5 5 4 5 5 5 3 8 4.8

8.7 8.0 9.8 13.5 11.6 6.0 7.3 24.2 15.6 11.1 9.8 5.2 10.9
10.8 11.3 9.8 8.6 11.9 1.6 6.3 14.3 10.2 13.8 5.7 1.9 8.9
27 20 16 28 19 30 34 26 37 27 17 22 25.3
31 7 9 34 10 18 22 10 44 38 27 25 22.9
37 16 19 10 16 3 17 13 8 40 13 19 17.6
102 63 56 47 54 52 57 51 35 35 24 25 50.1

260 219 202 193 333 234 204 324 49 59 34 33 178.7
48 72 48 29 32 67 47 25 35 18 25 41 40.6
10 0 0 70 83 110 124 107 103 35 0 0 53.5
0 0 0 81 75 105 114 106 98 32 0 0 50.9

365 309 276 316 255 298 298 397 289 323 273 207 300.5
61$    53$    55$    64$    56$    65$    66$    68$    61$    67$    55$    52$    60.3

1.0 0.7 0.8 0.9 0.9 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.9 0.9 0.8 1.0 0.9
13 78 83 87 95 99 103 79 62 105 85 92 81.8
0.8 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.9 0.6 0.7 0.7 1.1 0.7 0.7 1.1 0.8

4 4 7 5 6 1 8 3 2 4 8 2 4.5

15 12 10 11 9 12 14 13 3 21 0 0 10.0
56 49 52 18 15 20 18 19 17 7 32 55 29.8
110 143 135 16 103 64 35 45 49 109 79.2 63 79.3

1.26 3.85 1.27 1.1 0.45 1.6
6.05 10.52 8 7 7 7.7

5 6 4 2 0 3.4

Public Works Department
November 2020
Prepared by:  Chad Edge
Date Prepared:  14 December 2020

2019

Cemetery Funerals

Utility Cut Repairs
Pot Hole Repairs

Storm Pipe RepairsSt
re

et
 &

 S
to

rm

Streets Swept (miles)
Pipe&Open Ditch Maint(1000-ft)

Ditch mowing (1000-ft)

Garage
Total Work Orders

 Total Fuel Cost (x1000)

Solid 
Waste

Refuse (x1000 tons)
Recyclables (tons)

Leaf-n-Limbs (x1000 tons)

2020

Bl
dg

  &
 

G
ro

un
ds

Radio, Electrical, Bldg 
Sign Repairs

ROW Mowing (ac)
City-Owned Lots Mowing (ac)

Utility Cut Repairs

Solid 
Waste

Recyclables (tons)
Leaf-n-Limbs (x1000 tons)

Cemetery Funerals

St
re

et
 &

 
St

or
m

Pipe&Open Ditch Maint(1000-ft)
Ditch mowing (1000-ft)

Storm Pipe Repairs

Pot Hole Repairs
Streets Swept (miles)

 Total Fuel Cost (x1000)

Refuse (x1000 tons)

Garage Total Work Orders

City-Owned Lots Mowing (ac)

Hydrants Replaced/Fixed
Meter Install/Changed

Radio, Electrical, Bldg 
Sign Repairs

Bl
dg

  &
 

G
ro

un
ds

ROW Mowing (ac)

Water Repairs
Sewer Repairs

Monthly Highlights

Departments AVG

D
is

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
&

 
Co

lle
ct

io
ns

Utility Line Maint (1000-ft)
Lines Camera'd (1000-ft)

D
is

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
&

 
Co

lle
ct

io
ns

Utility Line Maint (1000-ft)
Lines Camera'd (1000-ft)

Water Repairs
Sewer Repairs

Hydrants Replaced/Fixed
Meter Install/Changed

Buildings & Grounds: Completed preparations, rewiring, re-lamping, and installation of Christmas lights and decorations 
downtown and on Water Tower; Repaired roof leaks at Golf Course, ;Cemetery, and TC Coley buildings; Replaced two can 
lights and a door lock set on DGDC building; 
Distribution & Collections: Cleared Bear Creek Outfall and dug drainage ditches for access; Call duty responded to 28 after 
hour calls—total of 44 hours.
Streets & Storm water: Responded to 26 calls of localized flooding during Tropical Storm Eta; Regraded and removed 
blockages from three residential ditches/ culverts; cleared 645 feet of vegetation overgrowth from curb and gutter along 
Randolph, Level, and Slocumb Streets.



 

 
 

1 

PUBLIC UTILITIES DEPARTMENT 
November 2020 
Prepared By: Michael Wagner 
Date Prepared: December 10, 2020 
 
Water Treatment Plant 

• The Water Treatment Plant operations are proceeding smoothly. 
o Staff is finishing up the risk assessment phase of Americas Water Infrastructure Act 

(AWIA). Certification is due to the EPA before January 1, 2021. 
o The plate settlers’ installation is ongoing. Basin #5, #6, & #7 are certified complete. Basin 

#1 is scheduled to be complete the second week of December.  
o The Neuse River annual dredge remains on hold, due to river levels. 
o New Hope Tank rehabilitation and painting is complete. The tank should come back online 

the second week of December.     
 
Water Reclamation Facility 

• The Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) operations are proceeding smoothly, following the flooding 
impacts of Hurricane Eta. The average daily flows for November were 13.87 MGD 

o Inflow and Infiltration continues to be a major concern.  
• All of the city’s 26 pump stations are operating well, with the exception of the 117, Little Cherry, 

and New Hope pump station bar screens. 
o The obsolete telemetry system continues to be prepared for an upgrade. 

 
Compost Facility 

• Four-hundred and twenty-eight cubic yards of compost and mulch were sold in November 2020. 
 
Historical data for water and sewer volumes are in million gallons per day (MGD) and are average 
daily flows for each month. 
 

2020 
MGD 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Monthly 
Average 

Water* 6.032 6.201 6.318 6.117 6.639 6.779 7.033 6.529 6.564 6.368 6.109  6.426 
Sewer** 9.71 13.45 9.95 8.60 10.11 12.33 10.36 12.83 10.00 9.84 13.87  11.00 
Compost 283 950 824 914 727 570 237 389 286 830 428  585 

*Water permit- 12.0 MGD; **Wastewater permit- 14.2 MGD 
 

2019 
MGD 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Monthly 
Average 

Water* 6.206 6.053 6.016 6.175 7.237 7.351 7.361 6.890 6.693 6.519 6.310 6.287 6.591 
Sewer** 11.66 11.76 12.22 11.01 7.84 8.28 7.39 6.83 7.48 6.73 6.92 8.52 8.88 
Compost 52 319 390 552 503 437 103 121 217 508 350 6 297 

*Water permit- 12.0 MGD; **Wastewater permit- 14.2 MGD 



 

 
 

1 

FINANCE   
NOVEMBER 2020 
Prepared By: Andrea Thompson 
Date Prepared: December 11, 2020 
 

 

FY 19-20
Actual to Date Actual to Date YTD %

Revenues November-19 Adjusted Budget November-20 Collected
General Fund 11,200,697$    42,862,916$        7,500,812$      17.50%
Utility Fund 7,619,414        18,545,322          7,695,655        41.50%
Downtown District Fund 18,516             117,898               7,557               6.41%
Occupancy Tax Fund 514,143           1,199,844            366,473           30.54%
Stormwater Fund 636,587           1,775,600            645,678           36.36%
     Total 19,989,357$    64,501,580$        16,216,174$    25.14%

Expenditures
General Fund 17,098,700$    42,862,916$        15,045,790$    35.10%
Utility Fund 6,901,562        18,545,322 5,951,717 32.09%
Downtown District Fund 10,802             117,898 3,250               2.76%
Occupancy Tax Fund 300,738           1,199,844 194,285 16.19%
Stormwater Fund 372,812           1,775,600 398,795 22.46%
     Total 24,684,614$    64,501,580$        21,593,837$    33.48%

FY 19-20
Revenues Actual to Date Actual to Date YTD %

November-19 Adjusted Budget November-20 Collected
Property/Occupancy Taxes 5,593,046$      18,282,005$        1,509,536$      8.26%
Charges for Services 9,793,268        24,538,399          9,943,186        40.52%
Revenue Other Agencies 2,322,721        15,014,633          2,445,951        16.29%
Other Revenues 823,057           2,850,026            794,023           27.86%
Fund Balance -                   769,560               -                   0.00%
Shared Services 1,457,266        3,046,957            1,523,479        50.00%
     Total 19,989,357$    64,501,580$        16,216,174$    25.14%

Expenditures
Labor 11,681,188$    31,673,986$        11,484,544$    36.26%
Non-Labor 13,003,425      32,827,594          10,109,293      30.80%
     Total 24,684,614$    64,501,580$        21,593,837$    33.48%

FY 19-20 Actual Total 
Collections Actual November-20 Collected F-YTD

Debt Setoff 46,538$           228$                     5,228$             
Surplus 57,818$           -$                      41,746$           

OVERALL SUMMARY
FY 20-21

MAJOR CATEGORIES
FY 20-21

SELECTED OTHER INFORMATION



 

 
 

1 

 
PLANNING 
November 2020 
Prepared By: Debra Creighton 
Date Prepared: December 2, 2020 

During the month of November, the Planning staff reviewed and signed off on all commercial and 
residential building and sign permits.   Staff continues to prepare for upcoming meetings and has 
overseen contracted projects for the ADA Transition Plan, a marketing contract for GWTA and 
landscaping maintenance for Welcome to Goldsboro signs and enhancement areas.    Staff is in the 
process for compliance with the NCGS Legislative 160D updates, a Consultant has been selected to 
assist with the legislative updates to the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) updates to become 
effective July 1, 2021. On-going projects include tree and stump removal, preparation of transportation-
related documents and preparation of case reports.  Code Enforcement issues $25.00 parking violation 
tickets within the downtown area or upon notification elsewhere in the City. During the month of 
November, five (5) tickets were issued.   

Parked in Wrong Direction 4 
Parked in Proximity to Fire Hydrant 0 

Parked in a Prohibited Area (No Parking Zone) 1 
Other (Bus Loading Zone, Crosswalk, Sidewalk) 0 

   
2020 Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Total Average 

Site/Subdivision Plans  
Planning 

Commission 2 4 2 3 2 1 3 3 2 1 7   20 2 

Staff Level 0 2 1 1 1 2 2 1 2 3 3   10 1 
  

Rezonings 2 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 2 3 2   12 1 
Historic District Commission    0 
Commission 

Review 1 1 0 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 1   8 1 

Staff 
Review 1 0 1 2 2 1 0 2 2 2 1   14 1 

  
Code Enforcement      
Grass 
Cutting  
# Lots 

0 0 0 36 53 28 82 119 53 124 35   530 66 

Grass 
Cutting  
Payments 

0 0 0 $2,115 $3,025  $2,205  $4,025  $6,850  $2,870  $5,340 $1,905   $28,335 $3,541 

Junk 
Vehicles 0 7 2 2 27 0 0 0 2 3 10   53 5 

Tagged 
Vehicles 0 43 7 47 2 5 25 50 26 21 25   251 23 

Illegal Signs 
Removed 0 0 143 67 13 38 80 900 24 44 247   1556 141 

Bags of 
Litter 
Picked Up 

292 2438 261 187 224 197 211 250 737 419 209   5425 493 

 



1 

ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 
November 2020 
Prepared by:  Guy M. Anderson, P. E. 
Date Prepared:  12-11-2020 

Stoney Creek Greenway 
• The greenway extends from Royall Avenue to Quail Park along Stoney Creek, approximately 1,600

linear feet; 
• Engineering and Planning staff met with NCDOT on November 12, 2020 and plans are being updated

for submittal to NCDOT. 

Phase IV Sewer Collection Rehabilitation 
• This project is 95% complete;
• Staff is preparing punch list items for the contractor to complete rehab work;
• Subcontractors are onsite finishing up services and punch list work detailed by McKim & Creed;
• A final change order will be created to address overruns and underruns in the bid line items and

will be taken to City Council in December;
• Previous change orders amended the contract completion date to December 2020.

2019 Infrastructure Recovery (Golden Leaf Foundation) 
• This project consists of sewer rehabilitation and storm drainage improvements in various areas;
• This project is 95% complete;
• Remaining work includes installing a manhole on Grantham Street near Franklin Bakery;
• Final completion anticipated for December 2020.

2020 Street Improvements Project 
• This paving project includes:

1. Oak Hill Drive from North Berkeley Boulevard to Green Drive;
2. East Chestnut Street from South Slocumb Street to South Leslie Street;
3. Hawthorne Street from Oleander Avenue to Andrews Avenue;
4. Mimosa Street from Claiborne Street to Randolph Street;

• Paving project is underway with contractor performing preliminary work on each street as follows:
Undercutting of Oak Hill Drive in preparation for proof roll and then stone;
Water line has been laid and tie-ins completed for East Chestnut Street;
Curb and gutter and stone has been installed for Hawthorne Street;
Clearing on Mimosa Street has been completed.

• This project is 50% complete with a contract completion date of February 27, 2021.

2020 Street Resurfacing 
• Staff is working to develop a more detailed cost estimate to determine if additional street segments

can be added to include streets that were disturbed as part of the Phase IV Sewer Rehab Project; 
• Once the detailed estimate is developed, staff will seek final approval from City Council prior to

advertising for bids in January 2021. 



2 

 
2020 Wastewater System Improvements - SJAFB Sewer Outfall Improvements – FB2020-003 

• City Council awarded a contract to Vortex Services, LLC on July 13th for $370,597.40; 
• In addition to SJAFB Sanitary Sewer Outfall Improvements, this project includes Glen Oak Drive 

Sanitary Sewer Outfall Connection; 
• Notice to proceed date is set for December 1, 2020 with a contract completion date of March 26, 

2021. 
 
2017 Wastewater System Improvements – FB2020-002  

• City Council awarded a contract to AM-Liner East, Inc.  on May 4, 2020 for $502,287; 
• The project consists of sewer rehabilitation along North Carolina Street from Holly Street to Ash 

Street, sewer rehabilitation along the Big Ditch Outfall from George Street south to Crump Street; 
and sewer rehabilitation of a 200-foot segment from the Little River Outfall into old Cherry Hospital 
campus; 

• Pre-CCTV work has been partially completed; 
• This project is 5% complete; 
• Contract completion date is March 24, 2021. 

 
2017 Water System Improvements 

• This project consists of creating a separate pressure zone in the New Hope area by installing a 
booster pump station at the New Hope Water Tank and a couple of pressure reducing valves at the 
extreme ends of the new pressure zone; 

• Design plans and specifications have been sent to NCDEQ for review in June 2020; 
• Design plans and specifications are anticipated to be approved by NCDEQ by November/December 

2020. 
 

Ash Street/Alabama Avenue Sidewalk  
• This project consists of installing sidewalk from the right-of-way of NC Railroad along Ash Street to 

Alabama Street then down Alabama Street to Oak Street; 
• Construction plans are 90% complete; 
• Waiting on NCDOT to install handicap ramps along the project; 
• Duke Energy has relocated conflicting poles; 
• Engineering and Planning staff have requested a meeting with NCDOT to get an update on project 

status. 
 
Best Management Practices (BMPs) Inspections   

• Approximately 308 BMPs have been approved and 258 BMPS have been constructed to date; 
• All BMP inspections are temporarily on hold pending replacement of construction inspector. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 

1 

2020 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May Jun. July Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec. Avg.
Total Incidents: 198 187 166 111 118 208 213 213 233 203 204 187

Structure Fires: 10 4 2 1 4 4 2 2 6 2 1 3
EMS Calls: 70 81 73 7 21 74 89 68 80 88 76 66

Vehicle Accidents: 35 22 26 25 26 29 27 42 34 34 33 30
Fire Alarms: 46 29 26 38 33 46 45 49 69 41 46 43

Other: 37 51 39 40 34 55 50 52 44 38 48 44
Training Hours: 2969 3014 3138 2426 2289 2223 2351 2217 2444 2402 2014 2499

Safety Car Seat Checks: 3 9 2 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 2 2
Inspections: 129 119 143 73 108 134 151 108 119 140 124 123

2019 Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May Jun. Jul. Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec. Avg.
Total Incidents: 196 191 203 209 241 207 215 199 223 235 227 209 213

Structure Fires: 5 3 2 4 1 1 4 2 1 10 3 3 3
EMS Calls: 72 84 79 76 76 79 75 74 68 84 78 85 78

Vehicle Accidents: 27 30 40 33 39 27 22 36 33 38 36 32 33
Fire Alarms: 33 33 29 40 54 54 47 46 66 47 44 41 45

Other: 59 41 53 56 71 46 67 41 55 56 66 48 55
Training Hours: 3122 3211 3263 1804 2128 1788 1885 2995 1757 2061 1963 1322 2275

Safety Car Seat Checks: 3 8 5 4 5 8 9 10 6 6 4 2 6
Inspections: 94 86 123 118 113 71 91 114 116 107 100 76 101

FIRE DEPARTMENT 
November 2020 
Prepared By: CL/JD 
Date Prepared: 12.7.2020 

 

Fire Prevention and Outreach 
• 11/7 – Community Service - Pastor Appreciation Ride-by – 111 Hooks River Rd. 
• 11/9 – Community Service - Birthday Ride-by – 1318 Stephens St. 
• 11/9 – Community Service – Car Seat Installation – Station 2 
• 11/14 – Community Service – Birthday Ride-by – 913 E Elm St. 
• 11/14 – Community Service – Car Seat Installation – Station 2 
• 11/19 – Public Education – Truck Tour – Station 1 
• 11/20 – Community Service – Adoption Day Parade Celebration – James St. 
• 11/21 – Community Service – Birthday Ride-by – 801 Luther Dr. 
• 11/22 – Community Service – Birthday Ride-by – 407 N George St. 
• 11/29 – Community Service – Birthday Ride-by – 603 Weaver Dr. 
 

 
Working Structure Fires 

• 11/26 – 139 Millers Chapel Rd. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

    

 
Working Vehicle Fires 
• 11/11 – 905 S Slocumb St. 
• 11/17 – 124 Dupont Cir. 
• 11/18 – 1101 Deveraux St. 
• 11/20 – 700 E Ash St. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Note: Other Fire Calls includes Good Intent Calls, Bomb Scares, Vehicle Fires, Cooking Fires, False Alarms, Assist GPD, Service Calls, 
Haz-Mat Calls, Grass Fires and Unauthorized Burning. 

 



 

 
 

1 

GOLDSBORO POLICE DEPARTMENT 
November 2020 
Prepared By:  Michael D. West          
Date Prepared:  December 3, 2020  

 
Total Part I Crime (Homicide, Rape, Robbery, Aggravated Assault, Burglary, Larceny, Motor Vehicle Theft, 
and Arson) for November 2020 were 167, compared to 168 for November 2019. 
 
Property with an estimated value of $222,780 was reported stolen, while property with an estimated 
value of $53,446 was recovered. 
 
Officers arrested 131 people and issued 302 citations during the month. There were 30 drug-related 
charges.  
 
There were zero report(s) of assaults on officers.  

 
Revenue collected for November 2020 included:    

 Police Reports   $ 

               
 
 104.00  

 Fingerprints   $    50.00  

 Special Events    $  50.00  

             Total     $  204.00   

        
PART I CRIME COMPARISON & TREND 

2020 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug. Sept Oct Nov Dec Total AVG 

OFFENSE                             
Homicide 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0  1  0  0 2 .2 
Rape 1 1 0 1 0 0 5 0 0 3 1 0 12 1.1 
Robbery 5 7 2 0 4 6 4 5 1 4 1 0 39 3.5 
Aggravated Assault 11 12 14 9 9 19 25 20 28 23 15 0 185 16.8 
Breaking & Entering 29 27 21 23 18 27 30 36 25 25 38 0 299 27.2 
Larceny 112 122 113 97 79 104 108 136 94 113 105 0 1183 107.5 

Motor Vehicle Theft 9 8 7 6 6 11 6 10 7 5 7 0 82 7.5 
Arson 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 .2 
TOTALS 166 177 157 136 116 168 178 209 155 174 167 0 1804 164 

2019 Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug. Sept Oct Nov Dec Total AVG 

OFFENSE                             
Homicide 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0  0  0  0 2 0.2 
Rape 1 0 0 2 1 0 2 1 0  0  1  1 7 0.7 
Robbery 6 4 5 4 5 1 3 5 4  4  4  6 41 4.1 
Aggravated Assault 7 8 10 5 15 14 9 10 13  16  10  14 107 10.7 
Breaking & Entering 33 31 24 35 35 22 34 25 30  30  26  30 299 29.9 
Larceny 157 92 104 135 99 138 134 138 127  142  116  113 1266 126.6 

Motor Vehicle Theft 7 9 11 8 5 7 6 7 9 7   11  6 76 7.6 
Arson 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0  0  0 1 0.1 

TOTALS 211 145 154 189 160 184 191 186 183 199 168 170 1799 179.9 

 



1 

Parks & Recreation 
November - 2020 
Prepared By: Joshua Shockley/Felicia Brown 
Date Prepared – 12/10/2020 
• Goldsboro Golf Course – “414th” Golf Tournament (Nov.13th – 40 players) / Southeastern Seniors (Nov. 24th – 45 players) 
• Bryan MSCX – Hosted the Raleigh LaxFest tournament that included 108 teams. 
• Special Populations programing partnered with “A Small Miracle” to host a Fall Craft event (22 participants – 4 face to face – 18 virtual) 
• Beaver Moon Ride 2020 was held on November 29th (32 participants) 

2020 JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC 
AVG 

Herman Park Rec Center  
Program Revenue $2,361 $3,933 $336 $0 $0 $0 $20 $0 $20 $275 $80 $639 

Rental Revenue  $260 $1,225 $1,240 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 0 $235 $0 $269 

Facility Usage 418 1,082 267 0 0 0 0 0 36 97 42 177 

Expenditures $4,257 $5,205 $2,542 $2,270 $1,388 $641 $188 $910 $2,608 $2,593 $614 $2,111 

WA Foster Rec Center 

Program Revenue $10 $5 $15 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $70 $195 $290 $53 

Rental Revenue $975 $1,563 $900 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,260 $3,048 $113 $714 

Facility Usage 4,050 3,604 605 0 0 0 0 0 30 150 549 817 

Expenditures $10,396 $8,788 $5,335 $2,833 $3,216 $3,732 $2,980 $1,749 $2,781 $5,069 $2677 $4,505 

Specialized Recreation 

Program Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $460 $0 $42 

Rental Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 0 

Facility Usage 354 339 197 0 0 0 0 0 0 126 22 94 

Expenditures $2,020 $2,164 $1,173 $40 $226 $58 $0 $165 $300 $694 $393 $658 

Senior Programs & Pools 

Program Revenue $280 $201 $157 $0 $0 $3,469 $5,425 $1,859 $352 $140 $846 $1,157 

Rental Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Facility Usage 1,144 1,532 674 0 33 1,107 2,772 1,398 205 104 184 832 

Expenditures $2,223 $2,380 $7,343 $4,686 $1,961 $12,588 $21,173 $12,077 $6,149 $1596 $1683 $6,714 

Athletics, Field & 
Picnic Shelters, BMSC 

Program Revenue $3,262 $5,000 $5,080 $0 $0 $2,420 $1,725 $195 $1,200 $400 $3,788 $2,097 

Field / Shelter Rental $ $700 $5,010 $1,200 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 0 $750 $0 $696 

Facility Usage 12,865 17,845 6,585 300 644 1,522 3,425 3,724 5,130 9,781 20,274 7,463 

Expenditures $6,663 $14,564 $11,999 $13,607 $38,561 $7,269 $13,661 $9,689 $7,792 $9,321 $7,725 $12,805 

Golf Course 

Revenues $42,254 $16,420 $48,796 $55,207 $61,268 $50,249 $71,304 $46,781 $61,011 $59,039 $46,994 $50,848 

Expenditures $44,862 $23,671 $55,861 $43,212 $42,815 $165,446 $32,993 $43,191 $41,328 $33,101 $45,288 $51,979 

Rounds of Golf 973 557 1,421 1,805 2,227 2,158 2,137 1,867 1,930 1,871 1,542 1,681 

Net - $2,608 $-7,251 -$7,065 $11,995 $18,454 -$115,197 $38,311 $3,589 $19,683 $25,938 $1,706 $1,131 

Special Events 

Sponsorships / Revenue $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $300 $210 $46 

Participation 0 0 130 0 0 0 0 0 0 175 32 31 

Expenditures $332 $0 $292 $34 $0 $288 $110 $0 $0 $2,132 $355 $322 

TOTAL REVENUE $50,102 $33,357 $57,724 $55,207 $61,268 $56,138 $78,474 $48,835 $63,913 $64,842 $52,291 $ $56,559 

TOTAL REVENUE FOR THE YEAR $622,151 



 

 
**Expenditures include part-time labor cost and facility operational cost but do not include full-time labor  

cost, loan/bond payments and electricity for the areas with the exception of our Golf Course.  All of these costs 
are included for our Golf Course Expenditures. 
 

 
 
 

2019 JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC 
AVG 

Herman Park               
Program Revenue $1,805 $3045 $1,826 $2,928 $3,225 $7,242 $16,676 $8,574 $690 $1,141 $412 $452 $4,001 
Rental Revenue  $860 $1,390 $2,455 $1,770 $2,270 $3,490 $2,765 $2,545 $1,140 $1,470 $1,105 $1,210 $1,873 
Facility Usage 1,735 2,126 1,691 1,788 1,901 1,694 1,568 2,013 868 985 655 595 1,468 
Expenditures N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A $22,141 $8,837 $5,666 $4,724 $2,564 $5,692 $8,271 
              
WA Foster Rec Center              
Program Revenue $200 $1,180 $160 $205 $300 $2,890 $4,695 $3,235 $90 $40 $30 $50 $1,090 
Rental Revenue $350 $1,275 $350 $1,100 $4,600 $1,600 $1,200 $2,830 $1,180 $1,200 $1,135 $837 $1,471 
Facility Usage 7899 7,848 8,320 7,525 9,663 8,624 7,452 5,007 2,570 5,081 5,526 4,729 6,687 
Expenditures N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A $32,727 $18,189 $9,745 $10,914 $10,025 $11,261 $15,477 
              
Specialized Recreation              
Program Revenue --- $102 $94 --- --- --- ---- $230 --- --- --- --- $36 
Rental Revenue --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- --- 
Facility Usage 413 388 467 348 1,675 277 368 562 365 459 516 150 499 
Expenditures N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A $1,851 $2,436 $1,001 $2,641 $4,306 $590 $2,138 
              
Senior Programs & Pools              
Program Revenue $242 $264 $277 $309 $2,396 $6,124 $7,939 $2,621 $2,415 $309 $249 $205 $1,946 
Rental Revenue --- --- --- --- --- $550 $425 $375 --- --- --- --- $338 
Facility Usage 1,532 1,723 1,674 3,097 2,517 4,920 5,825 3,161 1,283 1,520 1,440 871 2,464 
Expenditures N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A $20,542 $13,897 $2,682 $1,645 $1,842 $2,046 $7,109 
              
Athletics, Field & 
Picnic Shelters, BMSC              
Program Revenue $5,206 $3,573 $8451 $2,229 $12,128 $11,459 $4,963 $6,487 $9,366 $23,044 $16,866 $5,441 $9,101 
Field / Shelter Rental $ $1,600 $150 $610 $890 $1,250 $1,480 $1,300 $795 $1,755 $898 $1,085 $2,438 $1,188 
Facility Usage 15,250 14,340 13,150 20,470 42,520 27,285 11,372 8,245 17,022 $29,693 23,738 19,500 20,215 
Expenditures N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A $13,842 $8,892 $19,005 $54,041 $26,867 $34,307 $26,159 
              
Golf Course              
Revenues $43,326 $22,930 $28,167 $52,962 $55,502 $65,797 $68,373 $49,754 $52,843 $60,173 $20,031 $35,203 $46,255 
Expenditures $33,159 $44,676 $47,976 $41,149 $41,387 $71,439 $43,750 $60,039 $44,984 $39,426 $30,373 $35,486 $44,487 
Rounds of Golf 808 1,088 1,741 1,799 2,528 2,812 2,511 2,659 2,316 2,139 985 1,124 1,876 
Net $10,167 $21,746 $19,809 $11,813 $14,115 $5,642 $24,623 $10,285 $7,859 $20,747 $10,342 $203 $1,775 
              
Special Events              
Sponsorships $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1.450 $1,990 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $166 
Participation 0 0 125 3,000 0 180 256 60 40 2680 0 2500 737 
Expenditures --- --- --- --- --- --- $2,345 --- $1,305 $1,538 $510 $3,707 $784 
              
TOTAL REVENUE $53,589 $33,810 $42,390 $62,393 $81,671 $102,082 $109,901 $77,446 $69,479 $88,275 $40,913 $45,836 $67,315 

TOTAL REVENUE FOR THE YEAR             
$807,785 

 



 

 
 

1 

Travel and Tourism 
November 2020 
Prepared By: Ashlin Glatthar, Joanna Ferrin and Amber Herring  
Date Prepared: 12/15/20 
 

• Inquiries were fulfilled for the month of November by the TTO—784 e-inquiries. 

• Total hotel revenue generated in October was $1,687,482, which is down -15.3% YOY. November revenue 

not yet released. 

• For the month, TTO Facebook page had 200 new page likes. Instagram page has 63 new followers. Twitter 

page gained 0 new followers.  

• TTO received a second tourism recovery promotion grant through the State of NC in the amount of $10,750. 

Funding was made available through NC House Bill 1023 and must be used by Dec. 30, 2020. 

• TTO was also awarded a second sporting event grant from NC Sports Association in the amount of $2,400 

to apply towards the approved expenses related to the youth girls soccer tournament Feb 14-15 at the 

Bryan Multi-Sports Complex, which is expected to bring 50 teams from across the state. 

• Year to date, the TTO has secured $113,650 of covid-relief funding in the form of marketing credit or grant 

funding to help alleviate the impact of covid-19 on the travel industry and marketing efforts.  

• On November 14-15, Goldsboro hosted the Raleigh LaxFest for the first time attracting 108 teams from 

across the country to the area for the two-day tournament. Over 6,000 visitors came to Wayne County, 

which generated over $900,000 in visitor spending within Wayne, Lenoir, Johnston, and Wilson counties. 

• TTO is back in conversation with the Mountains to Sea Trail office to work with their cartographer and GIS 

expert on identifying the best land route connection through Wayne County. A kick off project call between 

tourism, planning, and parks is scheduled for the first week of January.  

• After 4 years of soliciting a hotel to compliment the Maxwell Center, a hotel developer is now in contract 

with the county, hotel franchise, and city officials to move forward with hotel development under the 

Hilton brand. 

 

     

City Occupancy Tax Collections  

 July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March April May June YTD Average 

2020-21 $63,053 $79,612 $70,672 $86,804 $58,755* $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $358,896 $71,779 

2019-20 $82,004 $88,424 $92,348 $85,480 $81,911 $72,631 $61,017 $71,071 $73,114 $54,362 $38,523 $54,254 $855,139 $71,262 
 

*We are currently working with city finance office to correct a collections glitch that shows an unusual decrease in 
collections for Nov 2020. 



L









ORDINANCE NO. 2020 -  

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 
OF THE CITY OF GOLDSBORO, NORTH CAROLINA 

CODE OF ORDINANCES 

WHEREAS, after notice duly given according to law, a public hearing was held before the 
City Council and the Planning Commission at a regular meeting held in the City Hall Annex, 
Large Conference Room, City Hall, on Monday, November 16, 2020, at 7:00 p. m., for the 
purpose of considering and discussing the passing of an ordinance amending the Unified 
Development Ordinance of the City of Goldsboro, North Carolina; and  

WHEREAS, after completion of said public hearing and receipt of the recommendation 
of the Planning Commission, the City Council of the City of Goldsboro deems it advisable and 
for the best interest of the City and those residing within its zoning jurisdiction that the Unified 
Development Ordinance be amended as herein below set forth; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North 
Carolina: 

1. That the Unified Development Ordinance of the City of Goldsboro, North
Carolina Code of Ordinances, be and the same is hereby amended by changing: 

From Neighborhood Business (NB) to General Business Conditional Zoning 
district (GB CD) for the operation of an automatic car wash.   

Z-10-20 Wayne Oil Company, Inc. - Located on the northwest corner of Wayne 
Memorial Drive and Fourth Street 

The Wayne County Tax Identification Number is 3509-49-9397 (portion of). 

2. That the Official Zoning Map, Goldsboro, North Carolina, on file in the Office of
the Director of Planning and Community Development be promptly changed to reflect this 
amendment and the appropriate entries in reference thereto be entered in the descriptive 
record of changes as provided in Section 2 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 

3. That this Ordinance shall become effective from and after the entry of the
changes or amendments herein made on the said Official Zoning Map. 

Adopted this  _  day of , 2020. 

___________________________ 
Mayor  

Attested by: 

______________________ 
City Clerk  

















M









Item N 



 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-85 
 

RESOLUTION EXPRESSING APPRECIATION 
FOR SERVICES RENDERED BY DWAYNE DEAN 

AS AN EMPLOYEE OF THE CITY OF GOLDSBORO 
FOR MORE THAN 29 YEARS 

 
 WHEREAS, Dwayne Dean retires on January 1, 2021 as a Major with the Goldsboro Police Department of the 
City of Goldsboro with more than 29 years of service; and 
 

WHEREAS, Dwayne began his career on July 24, 1991 as a Police Officer with the Goldsboro Police 
Department; and  

 
WHEREAS, On September 3, 1997, Dwayne was promoted to Detective with the Goldsboro Police Department; 

and  
 
WHEREAS, On June 15, 2011, Dwayne was promoted to Sergeant with the Goldsboro Police Department; and  
 
WHEREAS, On July 1, 2015, Dwayne was promoted to Captain with the Goldsboro Police Department; and  
 
WHEREAS, On November 23, 2016, Dwayne was promoted to Major with the Goldsboro Police Department 

where he has served until his retirement; and 
 
WHEREAS, Dwayne has proven himself to be a dedicated and efficient public servant who gained the 

admiration and respect of his fellow workers and the citizens of the City of Goldsboro; and 
 

 WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council of the City of Goldsboro are desirous, on behalf of themselves, City 
employees and the citizens of the City of Goldsboro, of expressing to Dwayne Dean their deep appreciation and gratitude 
for the service rendered by him to the City over the years. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North 
Carolina that: 
 

1. We express to Dwayne our very best wishes for success, happiness, prosperity and good health in his future 
endeavors. 

 
2. This Resolution shall be incorporated into the official Minutes of the City of Goldsboro, and shall be in full 

force and effect from and after this 21st day of December, 2020.  
    
 
 
 
 
         ________________________ 

Mayor   
 
 

Attested by: 
 
 

___________________ 
City Clerk  


	Agenda 12-21-20
	Item A-1 Columbus Taylor Retirement Resolution
	Item A-2 Columbus Taylor Retirement Resolution
	FOR MORE THAN 37 YEARS

	Item B-1 Stasia Fields Retirement Resolution
	Item B-2 Stasia Fields Retirement Resolution
	FOR MORE THAN 33 YEARS

	Item C-1 Jon Gillis Retirement Resolution
	Item C-2 Jon Gillis Retirement Resolution
	FOR MORE THAN 32 YEARS

	Item E  Z-11-20
	Item F  CU-7-20
	Item G  CU-8-20
	Item H Concourse Contract Award
	Item I Multi Sports Complex Lease
	Item J Boards and Commissions Memo and Res.
	Item K Monthly Departmental Reports
	Item K-1 Human Resources Monthly Report
	Item K-2 Community Relations Monthly Report
	Item K-3 Paramount_GEC Monthly Report
	Item K-4 Inspections Monthly Report
	Item K-5 Downtown Monthly Report
	Item K-6 IT Monthly Report
	Item K-7 PW Monthly Report
	Item K-8 Public Utilities Monthly Report
	Item K-9 Finance Monthly Report
	Item K-10 Planning Monthly Report
	Item K-11 Engineering Monthly Report
	Item K-12 Fire Monthly Report
	Item K-13 Police Monthly Report
	Item K-14 Parks and Recreation Monthly Report
	Item K-15 Tourism Monthly Report
	Item L Z-10-20
	Item M  S-8-20
	Item N-1 Dwayne Dean Retirement Resolution
	Item N-2 Dwayne Dean Retirement Resolution
	FOR MORE THAN 29 YEARS




